RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 05, 2017, 5:06 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 32221-1 Consolidated with 33704-9

STATE OF WASHINGTON

PETITIONER

V.

DAVID PRIEST

RESPONDENT

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

KARL F. SLOAN
Prosecuting Attorney
237 4th Avenue N.
P.O. Box 1130
Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone 509-422-7290 Fax

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is the State of Washington,
represented by Karl F. Sloan, Okanogan County Prosecuting
Attorney, and asks this court to accept review of the Court of
Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of
this petition

B. **DECISION**

The Petitioner seeks review of the decision by the Court of Appeals in Case No. 32221-1-III consolidated with 33704-9-III, entered October 25, 2016, vacating the defendant's convictions; and seeks review of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, entered December 6, 2016. A copy of the Decision is attached as Appendix A, pages 1-12; and a copy of the Order is attached as Appendix B, page 1.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it granted the defendant's personal restraint petition, where jurisdiction was not raised at the trial court level or on direct appeal?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err when it found the State lacked jurisdiction over the defendant, where a challenge to jurisdiction was never raised at the trial court level?
- Did the court of appeals err when it acted as the finder of fact, and rejected facts presented at the trial court level, in order to find the defendant did

not possess the stolen vehicle and property off of the reservation?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June of 2013. Omak Police Officer Michael

Morrison received report of burglary complaint from James

Baker, involving the theft of personal property and a pickup
truck, from his property located at 62 Woods Road in Omak.

RP 12/6/2013, hereinafter "RP", 70-72, 149. Officer

Morrison observed the stolen truck near County Road 280.

It was partially under a tarp, being held by the defendant. RP
72-73.

Officer Morrison also testified that other stolen property taken from Mr. Baker's property was located in a trailer; that the trailer had been stolen from a residence on Jackson Street in the City of Omak; and that the trailer was recovered with some of Baker's property at a residence on Edmunds Street in the City of Omak. RP 78.

Based on Officer Morrison's observation of the stolen truck, Okanogan County Sgt. Eric Mudgett went to an address at 1109 Lone Pine HUD. RP 88. Other property taken from Mr. Baker's property during the burglary was found in the truck and on the property RP 157-161.

Officers made contact with the defendant inside a travel trailer located behind a primary residence. RP 98, 109, 120, 133-134. The defendant said he did not live there, and that a person named Garret brought the truck to that location. RP 110, 113, 120. The owner of the residence was Cheryl Priest. RP 121.¹

The defendant was convicted of Possession of a Stolen Motor Vehicle and Possession of Stolen Property Third Degree. RP 235; RP 1/13/14, 241.

The defendant appealed his conviction challenging legal financial obligations. *See Opinion*, Appendix A, pg. 1-2. The defendant then moved to vacate his convictions under CrR 7.8. The motion was transferred to the Court of Appeals as a personal restraint petition.² The personal restraint petition asserted a lack of jurisdiction. *See Opinion*,

¹ Ms. Priest testified in the case of *State v. David Priest, Okanogan County* #13-1-00044-8; COA # 325491, that she is the ex-sister in law of the defendant and that he did not reside with her. RP 4/9/2014, 264.

² CrR 7.8 (2) Transfer to court of Appeals, states: The court shall transfer a motion filed by a defendant to the court of Appeals for consideration as a personal restraint petition unless the court determines that the motion is not barred by RCW 10.73.090 and either (i) the defendant has made a substantial showing that he or she is entitled to relief or (ii) resolution of the motion will require a factual hearing.

In transferring the defendant's motion, the trial court determined it was not time barred by RCW 10.73.090, and the defendant made no substantial showing he was entitled to relief, or that resolution required a factual hearing.

Appendix A, pg. 1-2. The defendant provided no competent evidence in support of his petition. On April 25, 2016, the Court of Appeals entered and Order for Reference Hearing.

Order for Reference Hearing, Appendix C, pages. 1-3

The trial court held the evidentiary hearing and filed its findings of fact on July 18, 2016. *Superior Court Findings of Fact from Reference Hearing*, Appendix D, pages. 1-5.

The trial court found there was no evidence that another person delivered the truck to the location where it was ultimately recovered, and that Mr. Priest possessed the truck and stolen property off of the Colville Reservation. *Id.* at 4, 5.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review should be granted in the present case. RAP

13.4 (b) states: A petition for review will be accepted by the

Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with existing case law, is a significant question of law, and involves a substantial issue of public interest.

1. The Court of Appeals erred when it granted appellant's personal restraint petition brought under RAP 16.4. ³

- (1) The decision in a civil or criminal proceeding was entered without jurisdiction over the person of the petitioner or the subject matter; or
- (2) The conviction was obtained or the sentence or other order entered in a criminal proceeding or civil proceeding instituted by the state or local government was imposed or entered in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of the State of Washington; or
- (3) Material facts exist which have not been previously presented and heard, which in the interest of justice require vacation of the conviction, sentence, or other order entered in a criminal proceeding or civil proceeding instituted by the state or local government; or
- (4) There has been a significant change in the law, whether substantive or procedural, which is material to the conviction, sentence, or other order entered in a criminal proceeding or civil proceeding instituted by the state or local government, and sufficient reasons exist to require retroactive application of the changed legal standard; or
- (5) Other grounds exist for a collateral attack upon a judgment in a criminal proceeding or civil proceeding instituted by the state or local government; or

³ RAP 16.4 states in part:

⁽a) Generally Except as restricted by section (d), the appellate court will grant appropriate relief to a petitioner if the petitioner is under a "restraint" as defined in section (b) and the petitioner's restraint is unlawful for one or more of the reasons defined in section (c)...

⁽c) Unlawful nature of restraint: The restraint must be unlawful for one or more of the following reasons:

In the present case, the Petitioner made no showing that his restraint was unlawful when the petition was filed. He presented no competent evidence to support any of the factors set out in RAP 16.4(c). The trial court had jurisdiction over the petitioner and the subject matter, and the Petitioner presented no facts to the contrary.

The verdict and sentence were not in violation of the Constitution of the United States or Washington State.

Moreover, there had been no significant changes in the law that were material to the Petitioner's conviction, sentence, or other orders entered; and there were no other legitimate grounds to justify the collateral attack.

A defendant who has not appealed an issue may not use a personal restraint petition to raise issues he could have raised in a direct appeal, except for "grave

⁽⁶⁾ The conditions or manner of the restraint of petitioner are in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of the State of Washington; or

⁽⁷⁾ Other grounds exist to challenge the legality of the restraint of petitioner.

⁽d) Restrictions: The appellate court will only grant relief by a personal restraint petition if other remedies which may be available to petitioner are inadequate under the circumstances and if such relief may be granted under RCW 10.73.090, .100, and .130. No more than one petition for similar relief on behalf of the same petitioner will be entertained without good cause shown.

constitutional errors." See State v. Hall, 18 Wn. App. 844, 847 (1977) (quoting Koehn v. Pinnock, 80 Wn.2d 338, 340, 494 P.2d 987 (1972)).

Here the Petitioner did appeal his convictions. In his appeal, he failed to raise any challenge that he asserted as grounds for relief in his PRP. This was because the Petitioner raised no challenge to jurisdiction at the trial court level, and the record did not support the claim subsequently raised in his petition.

As stated above, when considering a timely personal restraint petition, courts may grant relief to a petitioner only if the petitioner is under an unlawful restraint, as defined by RAP 16.4(c). RAP 16.4(a). Additionally, the availability of collateral relief is limited in two ways. *In re Yates,* 177 Wn.2d 1, 16-18, 296 P.3d 872, 880-81 (2013); *In re Pers. Restraint of Davis,* 152 Wash.2d 647, 670–72, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (Davis I).

First, the petitioner in a personal restraint petition is prohibited from renewing an issue that was raised and rejected on direct appeal unless the interests of justice require re-litigation of that issue. *Davis* at 671, 101 P.3d 1. Here the issue was not raised on direct appeal.

Second, new issues must meet a heightened showing before a court will grant relief. For alleged constitutional errors, a petitioner has the burden of showing actual prejudice ...; for alleged non-constitutional error, he must show a fundamental defect resulting in a complete miscarriage of justice. *In re Yates*, 177 Wn.2d 16-18; *In re Pers. Restraint of Elmore*, 162 Wash.2d 236, 251, 172 P.3d 335 (2007) (Elmore II)). The petitioner must make these heightened showings by a preponderance of the evidence. *In re Yates*, 177 Wn.2d 16-18. In the present case, any claimed error is non-constitutional, and the Petitioner must show a fundamental defect resulting in a compete miscarriage of justice.

Where the record did not provide facts or evidence on which to decide the issue and the petition instead relied solely on conclusory allegations, the Court of Appeals should have declined to determine the validity of a personal restraint petition. *E.g., Matter of Cook*, 114 Wn.2d 802, 813-14, 792 P.2d 506, 512 (1990). Compliance with that threshold burden is an absolute necessity to enable the appellate court to make an informed review. Lack of such compliance will necessarily result in a refusal to reach the merits. *Id.* A petitioner will be entitled to relief only if he can meet his

ultimate burden of proof, which, on collateral review, requires that he establish error by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* The defendant did not meet his burden at the time of filing the petition or after the remand hearing.

2. The Court of Appeals erred when it found there was no State jurisdiction when there was no evidence in the record to support that finding.

Proof of jurisdiction beyond a reasonable doubt is an integral component of the State's burden in every criminal prosecution. *State v. Svenson, 104 Wash. 2d 533, 542, 707 P.2d 120 (1985)*. In most circumstances, proof that the crime was committed in the state of Washington satisfies the jurisdictional element. *State v. L.J.M., 129 Wash. 2d 386, 392, 918 P.2d 898 (1996)*. Ordinarily, it is the State's burden to establish that jurisdiction is appropriate in state court. *L.J.M., 129 Wash. 2d at 392.*

Where the underlying facts are undisputed, a trial court's decision regarding jurisdiction is reviewed de novo *State v. Squally*, 132 Wash. 2d 333, 340-41, 937 P.2d 1069, 1073 (1997) (*citing Lewis v. Bours*, 119 Wash.2d 667, 669, 835 P.2d 221 (1992)).

When reviewing a trial court's decision de novo, review is limited to the trial court record of the facts that were in front of the trial court; and the reviewing court does not

consider evidence outside the record. *State v. Monfort*, 179 Wash. 2d 122, 129, 312 P.3d 637, 641 (2013); *See also, In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Turco*, 137 Wash. 2d 227, 245–46, 970 P.2d 731 (1999) (de novo review does not mean that the court holds a new evidentiary hearing); *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wash. 2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997) (de novo review is limited to the legal conclusions the trial court drew from its findings of fact).

In the present case, the facts before the trial court were uncontested. There were no facts before the trial court that supported a the claim of lack of jurisdiction, or that would support a finding on review that the trial court committed legal error.

The State does not acquire a higher burden of proof on jurisdiction unless the totality of the evidence before the trial court causes it to reasonably question the State's prima facie showing that jurisdiction exists simply because the site of the alleged crime is within the state of Washington.

L.J.M., 129 Wash. 2d at 394⁴

⁴ Jurisdiction need not be exclusive and both the State and a tribe may prosecute an Indian for offenses for which each has jurisdiction without violating the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy or the state statutory prohibition against double jeopardy. *State v. Moses*, 145 Wash. 2d 370, 37 P.3d 1216 (2002).

The amount of evidence that would cause a court to reasonably question whether jurisdiction properly lies in state court is similar to that which a defendant must present when raising an affirmative defense of self-defense. It requires only that the defendant point to evidence that has been produced and presented to the court, which, if true, would be sufficient to defeat state jurisdiction. *L.J.M.*, 129 Wash. 2d at 394-95.

The burden of proof for subject matter jurisdiction shifts as follows:

- The State always has the burden of establishing jurisdiction beyond a reasonable doubt. By alleging that the crime took place in Washington, the State meets this burden.
- 2. To overcome this presumption, the defendant need only point to evidence of facts, which, if proved, would defeat jurisdiction.
- 3. The State must then come forward with a prima facie showing of additional jurisdictional facts sufficient to refute the defense's theory and satisfy the court that it has jurisdiction.
- 4. If the defense fails to convince the court that jurisdiction is questionable, the State can rest on its initial showing that the crimes occurred within the state.
- 5. If, however, the court remains in doubt as to its jurisdiction, then the jurisdictional facts become an element of the crime to be decided by the finder of fact in the event of a trial. The State must prove the jurisdictional facts by the usual standard of beyond reasonable doubt.

State v. Boyd, 109 Wash. App. 244, 251, 34 P.3d 912, 915 (2001) (internal citations omitted). As in *L.J.M.*, 129 Wash.

2d 386, there was no evidence before the trial court that would cause it to doubt the State's assertion of jurisdiction based on its showing that the site of the alleged crime was within the state. The State made a prima facie showing of jurisdiction. The "burden of contesting" shifted to the defendant to produce evidence sufficient to defeat State jurisdiction. *E.g., State v. Waters*, 93 Wash. App. 969, 978, 971 P.2d 538, 543 (1999); *L.J.M.*, 129 Wash. 2d at 395–96.

There was no competent evidence to support the Appellant's claim on appeal (or in the PRP). As in *L.J.M.*, 129 Wash. 2d 386, the defendant's attempt to show Indian status for the purpose of tribal criminal jurisdiction, where he alleged he was a member of the Colville Indian Tribe, even if true, does not defeat state jurisdiction, because tribal membership alone is not necessarily adequate to establish Indian status for the purposes of RCW 37.12 and 18 U.S.C.A. § 1151-53 (West). *L.J.M.*, 129 Wash. 2d at 396.

The allegation should have been denied where the record before the trial court did not support the claim of error by the trial court in finding state court jurisdiction.

3. The Decision of the Court of Appeals was not based on undisputed facts, and the direct and circumstantial facts were sufficient to establish the

defendant possessed the stolen vehicle and property off the Colville Reservation.

Proof of jurisdiction beyond a reasonable doubt is an integral component of the State's burden in every criminal prosecution. *State v. Svenson*, 104 Wash.2d 533, 542, 707 P.2d 120 (1985). As stated above, in most circumstances, proof that the crime was committed in the state of Washington satisfies the jurisdictional element. *State v. L.J.M.*, 129 Wash.2d 386, 392, 918 P.2d 898 (1996).

When the underlying facts are undisputed, the question of whether Washington's courts have jurisdiction to hear the charges against a native defendant is a question of law, and review of the lower courts' determinations is de novo. *Crosby v. Cty. of Spokane, 137 Wn.2d 296, 301, 971 P.2d 32, 36 (1999); State v. Squally,* 132 Wn.2d 333, 340–41, 937 P.2d 1069, 1073 (1997).

In the present case, the Court of Appeals did not accept the facts as undisputed, but made a factual determination that is in conflict with the facts presented at trial, the facts presented at the remand hearing, and that was in conflict with the findings of fact made by the trial court.

Despite the evidence presented and the trial court findings, the Court of Appeals stated:

The State has forwarded no evidence that David Priest possessed either the stolen car or other stolen items off the reservation. The State presented no testimony as to what, if any, purloined property David Priest possessed outside the reservation, and, if so, where he possessed the property and on what date or dates he possessed the property.

In finding of fact 14 of the reference hearing, the trial court determined that the jury, who found Priest guilty of the possession crimes, also found that he "knowingly" possessed the stolen property off the Colville Tribes Reservation between the last two weeks of May 2013 and the first two weeks of June 2013. We find no such finding in the record and the trial court did not cite to the record for that finding. The jury was never asked to determine the location of the crimes.⁵

See Opinion, Appendix A, pg. 11. The Court of Appeals decision ignored the direct evidence that the truck and property came from a location off the reservation, and ignores the circumstantial evidence supporting the defendant's possession of the stolen property off the reservation before the defendant disabled the vehicle.

Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence carry equal weight when reviewed by an appellate court. *State v. Goodman*, 150 Wash.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004). A reviewing court defers to the fact finder on issues of conflicting testimony, witness credibility, and persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Rodriquez*, 187 Wash.App. 922,

⁵ The fact that the jury was not specifically asked to determine location is because the defendant never raised any issue of, or contested jurisdiction, at the trial court level. Therefore, the State, nor the trial court, was ever on notice that location as it related to jurisdiction was element of the crime.

930, 352 P.3d 200, review denied, 184 Wash.2d 1011, 360 P.3d 817 (2015).

In order for the Court of Appeals to reach its decision, it had to make a credibility determination that the defendant's statement that "Garret" brought the truck to the location where it was recovered was somehow credible or factual. The direct and circumstantial evidence showed the defendant brought the stolen vehicle and property to the location where it was recovered. This evidence included the following:

- That the truck was taken from a location off the reservation.
- That the truck was operable when it was taken and was not in need of work by the defendant to make it operable.
- That the defendant was in fact stripping the vehicle; not making it operable.
- That the defendant concealed the vehicle with a tarp, which contradicts any claim that the truck was brought to him for any legitimate purpose.
- That the defendant hid from law enforcement when they arrived to search for the truck.
- That the defendant lived off the reservation and did not live at the location where the truck was recovered. This conflicts with any assertion that another person brought the truck to the

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