RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 13, 2017, 10:39 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 94010-0 Court of Appeals No. 32221-1-III (consolidated with 33704-9-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Petitioner,

VS.

DAVID RANDALL PRIEST,
Defendant/Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

SUSAN MARIE GASCH WSBA No. 16485 P. O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Respondent

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

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals' decision falls squarely within established precedent and does not meet this court's criteria for review.

This is a simple case which follows settled law and does not warrant review. Mr. Priest is an enrolled member of the Confederated Tribes of the Colville Nation, a federally-recognized tribe. He was convicted for knowingly possessing a stolen truck and some of its contents. The State's petition does not dispute Mr. Priest's enrollment status or that the State of Washington does not have criminal jurisdiction over his possession crimes if committed solely on tribal lands. The State's petition does not dispute that the State's evidence showed the truck and property were found on tribal land and that no

one saw Mr. Priest with the stolen truck or property off the reservation. The Court of Appeals correctly held the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to entertain the State's prosecution against Mr. Priest for possession of the stolen property. This Court should reject the State's attempt to obfuscate the issue, and should deny review.

1. Mr. Priest's PRP was properly before the Court of Appeals.

The State asserts Mr. Priest's PRP is procedurally barred because the PRP "raises an issue that could have been raised on appeal." State's Petition for Discretionary Review (State's PDR) at 6–7. But this Court has repeatedly rejected the notion that failure to address an issue on appeal bars addressing that same issue in a PRP. See, e.g., In re Adolph, 170 Wn. 2d 556, 563, 243 P.3d 540 (2010), (citing Hews v. Evans, 99 Wn.2d 80, 87, 660 P.2d 263 (1983) ("We hereby hold the failure to raise a constitutional issue for the first time on appeal is no longer a reason for automatic rejection of a Personal Restraint Petition."); In re Pers. Restraint of Cook, 114 Wn.2d 802, 812, 792 P.2d 506 (1990) ("[W]e now reject the automatic bar to advancing a non-constitutional argument in a personal restraint petition merely because the argument was not advanced earlier.")).

More important, while the appeal was pending Mr. Priest raised the subject matter jurisdiction issue in a motion to vacate and set aside his judgment, which was transferred by the Okanogan County Superior Court to Division Three of the Court of Appeals for consideration as a PRP. He raised the same issue in his Statement of Additional Grounds for Review directly as well as through an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. The Court of Appeals consolidated Mr. Priest's PRP with his direct appeal. Slip Op. at 4. Thus the issue was raised concurrently in the direct appeal. "It is axiomatic that a party may challenge a court's subject matter jurisdiction at any time, including for the first time on appeal or through a collateral attack. Slip Op. at 9 (citing RAP 2.5(a)(l); RAP 16.4(c)(l); Matheson v. City of Hoquiam, 170 Wn. App. 811, 819, 287 P.3d 619 (2012); Wesley v. Schneckloth, 55 Wn.2d 90, 94; 346 P.2d 658 (1959)). Further, "[i]f a defendant wishes to raise issues on appeal that require evidence or facts not in the existing trial record, the appropriate means of doing so is through a personal restraint petition, which may be filed concurrently with the direct appeal." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Mr. Priest's PRP is not barred.

The State also argues that review of Mr. Priest's PRP is improper because he has not shown that his restraint is unlawful for one of the reasons in RAP 16.4(c). State's PDR at 5–9. However, "RAP 16.4 establishes the criteria required to grant a PRP, not to review one." *In re Adolph*, 170 Wn. 2d at 562 (emphasis added).

The review of Mr. Priest's PRP does not violate RAP 16.4(c). Lack of subject matter jurisdiction is a non-constitutional error. *See Slip Op.* at 9; *see* State's PDR at 8 To grant relief on a personal restraint petition alleging a non-constitutional claim, the appellate court generally requires a threshold showing that the error "'constitute[s] a fundamental defect and inherently result[s] in a complete miscarriage of justice.'" *In re Pers. Restraint of Gentry*, 170 Wn.2d 711, 714, 245 P.3d 766 (2010) (quoting *In re Pers. Restraint of Lord*, 123 Wn.2d 296, 303, 868 P.2d 835 (1994)). But when a petition "raises issues that were afforded no previous opportunity for judicial review, ... the petitioner need not make the threshold showing of actual prejudice or complete miscarriage of justice." *Id.* at 714–15, 245 P.3d 766 (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Grantham*, 168 Wn.2d 204, 214, 227 P.3d 285 (2010)). It

is enough if the petitioner can demonstrate unlawful restraint under RAP 16.4. *Id.* at 715, 245 P.3d 766.

The State concedes the jurisdiction issue was not previously raised at the trial level. *See* State's PDR at 7. No court has ruled on jurisdiction and Mr. Priest has therefore not had a prior opportunity for judicial review. Mr. Priest filed his PRP while incarcerated due to the convictions he challenges. He has demonstrated restraint as required by RAP 16.4(b). In his PRP Mr. Priest asserted the trial court lacked jurisdiction to entertain a prosecution against him because he was an Indian and his wrongful possession occurred solely on tribal land, citing applicable factual and legal authority. Mr. Priest has made the required *prima facie* showing his restraint was unlawful under RAP 16.4(c)(1). The Court of Appeal's review did not violate 16.4(c).

The Court of Appeals actually considered review of Mr. Priest's PRP under the greater "threshold" standard. *Slip Op.* at 9. In *In re Adolph*, this Court clarified that the burden to avoid summary dismissal of a PRP requires only a *prima facie* showing that a petitioner has suffered a fundamental defect that resulted in a miscarriage of justice. *In re Adolph*, 170 Wn. 2d at 563.

There, the defendant argued that two years of his sentence were imposed unlawfully because the State did not prove he committed the DUI that triggered the sentence enhancement. *In re Adolph*, 170 Wn. 2d at 563. The court noted, "[w]e have identified that sentences entered in excess of lawful authority are fundamental defects that results in miscarriages of justice. *See In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 868–69, 50 P.3d 618 (2002)." *In re Adolph*, 170 Wn. 2d at 563. The court continued:

Adolph has made a prima facie showing that he suffered a fundamental defect that resulted in a miscarriage of justice and has met the burden to avoid summary dismissal of his PRP. If we were to agree that Adolph's sentence was unlawful, he would satisfy the grounds for relief in RAP 16.4(c)(2) because his sentence would have been entered in violation of the laws of Washington.

Id. The court concluded review of the defendant's PRP did not violate RAP 16.4(c). *In re Adolph*, 170 Wn. 2d at 562.

Just as in *In re Adolph*, the Court of Appeals correctly determined Mr. Priest's PRP alleging lack of subject matter jurisdiction identified a fundamental defect that inherently results in a complete miscarriage of justice.

The Washington Supreme Court explained over fifty years ago: if a court lacks jurisdiction, "any judgment entered is void ab initio and is, in legal effect, no judgment at all." *Wesley v. Schneckloth*, 55 Wn.2d at 93–94. We conclude that a petitioner who can demonstrate the court of conviction lacked jurisdiction to convict him has identified a "fundamental defect" entitling him to relief in a personal restraint petition. Jurisdiction is essential to due process. *State v. LG Elecs., Inc.,* 185 Wn. App. 394, 410, 341 P.3d 346 (2015), *aff'd,* 186 Wn.2d 169, 375 P.3d 1035 (2016).

Slip Op. at 9; see also In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d at 868–69 ("When the court has jurisdiction of the person and the subject matter, and the punishment is of the character prescribed by law, habeas corpus will not lie for the release of a prisoner because of mere errors, irregularities, and defects in the sentence which do not render it void. If, however, the court lacked the authority to render the particular judgment, the judgment was fatally defective and open to collateral attack.") (citations omitted) (emphasis added)). The Court of Appeal's review did not violate 16.4(c).

2. The decision of the Court of Appeals granting a personal restraint petition due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction falls squarely within established precedent.

"The appellate court will grant appropriate relief to a petitioner if the petitioner is under a 'restraint' as defined in section (b) and the petitioner's restraint is unlawful for one or more of the reasons defined

in section (c)." RAP 16.4(a). "A petitioner is under a 'restraint' if the petitioner has limited freedom because ... the petitioner is confined ... resulting from a judgment or sentence in a criminal case." RAP 16.4(b). The State does not dispute Mr. Priest is under a "restraint." *See* State's PDR at 6.

A restraint is unlawful if the decision in the criminal proceeding was entered without jurisdiction over the subject matter. RAP 16.4(c)(1). A jurisdictional defect constitutes a fundamental defect for which relief can be granted by way of a personal restraint petition.

Matter of Fleming, 129 Wn.2d 529, 533, 919 P.2d 66 (1996). Subject matter jurisdiction exists where "the court has the authority to adjudicate the *type of controversy* in the action." *Id.* (citation omitted). Whether a particular court has jurisdiction is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Shoop v. Kittitas Cty.*, 149 Wn.2d 29, 33, 65 P.3d 1194, 1196 (2003).

The State mistakenly attributes an appellate court's standards regarding de novo review to Division Three, which in this case was functioning as the first court of judicial review of the jurisdiction issue

because the matter had not been raised before the trial court. ² State's PDR at 9–10.³ The applicable Rules of Appellate Procedure quite clearly required (and allowed) Division Three to seek the additional information it wanted through a reference hearing: "The Chief Judge determines at the initial consideration of the petition the steps necessary to properly decide on the merits the issues raised by the petition. If the petition cannot be determined solely on the record, the Chief Judge will transfer the petition to a superior court for a determination on the merits or for a reference hearing." RAP 16.11(b).

The jurisdiction issue required Division Three to determine whether Mr. Priest was an Indian and whether the crimes of simple

² Division Three of the Court of Appeals has original non-exclusive appellate court jurisdiction in this personal restraint petition, which does not involve the death penalty. RAP 16.3(c). The issue of subject matter jurisdiction was not raised in the trial court and Division Three is the first court to judicially review the issue. In its petition the State refers to some standards and procedures of review that apply to a court acting in its appellate capacity, not to a court acting in a trial court-like capacity. To prevent confusion, counsel uses "Division Three" when the appellate court is acting in the latter capacity. Counsel means no disrespect.

³ The State argues: "When reviewing a trial court's decision de novo, review is limited to the trial court record of the facts that were in front of the trial court, and the reviewing court does not consider evidence outside the record. *State v. Monfort*, 179 Wn.2d 122, 129, 312 P.3d 637, 641 (2013); See also, In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Turco, 137 Wn.2d 227, 245–46, 970 P.2d 731 (1999) (de novo review does not mean that the courts holds a new evidentiary hearing); *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997) (de novo review is limited to the legal conclusions the trial court drew from its findings of fact)." State's PDR at 9–10.

possession⁴ occurred solely on tribal land. *See Slip Op.* at 9–11. Division Three ordered a reference hearing and asked the superior court to answer three questions:

- 1. During what, if any dates, has David Priest been an enrolled member of the Confederated Tribes of the Colville Nation?
- 2. Whether David Priest knowingly had possession of stolen property off the Confederate Tribes of the Colville territory, and, if so, what stolen property? Also, if so, when?
- 3. Whether David Priest knowingly had possession of stolen motor vehicle off the Confederate Tribes of the Colville territory, and, if so, when?

By Finding of Fact 3, the reference hearing court found Mr.

Priest was an enrolled member of the Colville Confederated Tribes at the time the possession crimes occurred. *Slip Op.* at 6. Mr. Priest's membership in a tribe recognized by the United States sufficiently establishes Indian status for purposes of RCW 37.12 and 18 U.S.C.A. §1151–53. *Slip. Op.* at 10; *State v. Daniels*, 104 Wn. App. 271, 281, 16 P.3d 650, 654 (2001).

By Finding of Fact 5, the reference hearing court found the stolen truck and property were found in Mr. Priest's possession at 1109

14

⁴ Simple possession is based on the location or place where the property is possessed To find actual possession, the property must be in one's personal custody. *State v. Callahan*,

Lone Pine HUD, which is tribal land. *Slip Op.* at 6; Reference Hearing RP 26. The State did not challenge the above two factual findings. State's Supplemental Brief Following Reference Hearing, filed September 16, 2016, *passim.* During the reference hearing, Deputy Eric Mudgett testified that he never saw the stolen car or property off the reservation. *Slip Op.* at 5; Reference Hearing RP 26. The evidence established Mr. Priest is an Indian and the crimes of possession occurred solely on Indian land.

The State oddly claims "[t]he Court of Appeal[']s decision [1] ignored the direct evidence that the truck and property came from a location off the reservation, and [2] ignores the circumstantial evidence supporting the defendant's possession of the stolen property off the reservation before the defendant disabled the vehicle." *See* State's PDR at 14–16. This argument is simply a red herring.

What the reference hearing court received was the same evidence presented during trial: the truck and property disappeared from locations off the reservation and they were found in Mr. Priest's possession on the reservation. Reference hearing court's Finding of

77 Wn.2d 27, 29, 459 P.2d 400 (1969). Constructive possession requires dominion and control over the property or the premises on which it is found. Id. at 29–31.

Fact 4 (*Slip Op.* at 6); Reference Hearing Exhibits 1⁵, 2⁶ and 3⁷. Mr. Priest was not charged with theft. How the truck and property got from Mr. Barker's property to the reservation or who brought it there was irrelevant to the jury's task to determine whether Mr. Priest unlawfully possessed property.

In Finding of Fact 14, the reference hearing court determined that the jury, who found Mr. Priest guilty of the possession crimes, also found that he "knowingly" possessed the stolen property off the Colville Tribes Reservation between the last two weeks of May 2013 and the first two weeks of June 2013 [date span as to when the property had been stolen]. Reference hearing court's Finding of Fact1 4 (*Slip Op.* at 8) [explanation added].

The State incorrectly contends Division Three must accept the reference hearing court's findings as undisputed. State's PDR at 13.

Mr. Priest challenged three of the findings, including Finding of Fact

14. Petitioner's Supplemental Brief (filed September 28, 2016).

Division Three has authority (and obligation) to review the reference

⁵ Portion of trial transcript of witness James Barker's testimony.

16

⁶ Portion of trial transcript of witness Romero Chavez' testimony.

⁷ Portion of trial transcript of witness Eric Mudgett's testimony.

hearing court's challenged factual findings to determine whether substantial evidence supports them. *In re Pers. Restraint of Gentry*, 137 Wn.2d 378, 410, 972 P.2d 1250 (1999) *as amended* (June 30, 1999); *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 116, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). Substantial evidence exists when the record contains evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person that the declared premise is true. *In re Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 679–80, 101 P.3d 1 (2004).

Division Three appropriately concluded, "[w]e find no such finding in the record and the trial court did not cite to the record for that finding. The jury was never asked to determine the location of the crimes." *Slip Op.* at 11. It is telling that in its petition for discretionary review, the State fails to identify for this Court where the alleged jury finding or any request for such a finding may be found in the record. State's PDR, *passim*. Substantial evidence did not support the finding and Division Three was correct in disregarding it.

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